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THE UNWINDING





















PROLOGUE





No one can say when the unwinding began—when the coil that held Americans together in its secure and sometimes stifling grip first gave way. Like any great change, the unwinding began at countless times, in countless ways—and at some moment the country, always the same country, crossed a line of history and became irretrievably different.


If you were born around 1960 or afterward, you have spent your adult life in the vertigo of that unwinding. You watched structures that had been in place before your birth collapse like pillars of salt across the vast visible landscape—the farms of the Carolina Piedmont, the factories of the Mahoning Valley, Florida subdivisions, California schools. And other things, harder to see but no less vital in supporting the order of everyday life, changed beyond recognition—ways and means in Washington caucus rooms, taboos on New York trading desks, manners and morals everywhere. When the norms that made the old institutions useful began to unwind, and the leaders abandoned their posts, the Roosevelt Republic that had reigned for almost half a century came undone. The void was filled by the default force in American life, organized money.


The unwinding is nothing new. There have been unwindings every generation or two: the fall to earth of the Founders’ heavenly Republic in a noisy marketplace of quarrelsome factions; the war that tore the United States apart and turned them from plural to singular; the crash that laid waste to the business of America, making way for a democracy of bureaucrats and everymen. Each decline brought renewal, each implosion released energy, out of each unwinding came a new cohesion.


The unwinding brings freedom, more than the world has ever granted, and to more kinds of people than ever before—freedom to go away, freedom to return, freedom to change your story, get your facts, get hired, get fired, get high, marry, divorce, go broke, begin again, start a business, have it both ways, take it to the limit, walk away from the ruins, succeed beyond your dreams and boast about it, fail abjectly and try again. And with freedom the unwinding brings its illusions, for all these pursuits are as fragile as thought balloons popping against circumstances. Winning and losing are all-American games, and in the unwinding winners win bigger than ever, floating away like bloated dirigibles, and losers have a long way to fall before they hit bottom, and sometimes they never do.


This much freedom leaves you on your own. More Americans than ever before live alone, but even a family can exist in isolation, just managing to survive in the shadow of a huge military base without a soul to lend a hand. A shiny new community can spring up overnight miles from anywhere, then fade away just as fast. An old city can lose its industrial foundation and two-thirds of its people, while all its mainstays—churches, government, businesses, charities, unions—fall like building flats in a strong wind, hardly making a sound.


Alone on a landscape without solid structures, Americans have to improvise their own destinies, plot their own stories of success and salvation. A North Carolina boy clutching a Bible in the sunlight grows up to receive a new vision of how the countryside could be resurrected. A young man goes to Washington and spends the rest of his career trying to recall the idea that drew him there in the first place. An Ohio girl has to hold her life together as everything around her falls apart, until, in middle age, she finally seizes the chance to do more than survive.


As these obscure Americans find their way in the unwinding, they pass alongside new monuments where the old institutions once stood—the outsized lives of their most famous countrymen, celebrities who only grow more exalted as other things recede. These icons sometimes occupy the personal place of household gods, and they offer themselves as answers to the riddle of how to live a good or better life.


In the unwinding, everything changes and nothing lasts, except for the voices, American voices, open, sentimental, angry, matter-of-fact; inflected with borrowed ideas, God, TV, and the dimly remembered past—telling a joke above the noise of the assembly line, complaining behind window shades drawn against the world, thundering justice to a crowded park or an empty chamber, closing a deal on the phone, dreaming aloud late at night on a front porch as trucks rush by in the darkness.


















PART I





















1978





I want to have a frank talk with you tonight about our most serious domestic problem. That problem is inflation. … twenty-twenty-twenty-four hours to go / I wanna be sedated … We must face a time of national austerity. Hard choices are necessary if we want to avoid consequences that are even worse. I intend to make those hard choices. … nothin to do nowhere to go-o-o / I wanna be sedated … Seven years of college down the drain. Might as well join the fucking Peace Corps. … CARTER DEALT MAJOR DEFEAT ON CONSUMER BILLS … I don’t know if the people of Mahoning Valley realize that the closing of the Youngstown Sheet and Tube Campbell Works not only affects the steelworkers and their families, but the community … THE LURE OF OUR MANY CULTS … The communards, most of them over the age of fifty, subsisted on a meager diet of rice and beans. They worked the fields from dawn to dusk while Jones harangued them with lectures and sermons over a public address system. … What man could afford to pay for all the things a wife does, when she’s a cook, a mistress, a chauffeur, a nurse, a babysitter? But because of all this, I feel women ought to have equal rights. … Unfortunately, most low tar cigarettes tasted like nothing. Then I tried Vantage. Vantage gives me the taste I enjoy. And the low tar I’ve been looking for. … FILIBUSTER DEFEATS UNION ORGANIZING BILL … The leaders of industry, commerce and finance in the United States have broken and discarded the fragile, unwritten compact previously existing during a past period of growth and progress. … ELVIS LOVE LETTERS Fans pour out their hearts; Plus Super Color Special: The day Elvis’s home became a shrine … Noise pollution in a New York slum! People are being mugged right and left, children are being bitten by rats, junkies are ripping out the plumbing of decaying tenements—and the EPA is worried about noise pollution! These same EPA officials, of course, go home at night and tranquilly observe their children doing homework to the accompaniment of thumping, blaring … CALIFORNIA VOTERS APPROVE A PLAN TO CUT PROPERTY TAX $7 BILLION “The hell with county employees,” said one man as he left a precinct polling place in a Los Angeles suburb.

















DEAN PRICE





At the turn of the millennium, when he was in his late thirties, Dean Price had a dream. He was walking to his minister’s house on a hard-surface road, and it veered off and became a dirt road, and that road veered off again and became another dirt road, with tracks where wagon wheels had worn it bare, but the grass between the tracks grew chest high, as if it had been a long time since anybody had gone down the road. Dean walked along one of the wagon tracks holding his arms out spread-eagle and felt the grass on either side hitting the underneath of his arms. Then he heard a voice—it came from within, like a thought: “I want you to go back home, and I want you to get your tractor, and I want you to come back here and bush-hog this road, so that others can follow where it’s been traveled down before. You will show others the way. But it needs to be cleared again.” Dean woke up in tears. All his life he had wondered what he was put on earth for, while going in circles like a rudderless ship. He didn’t know what the dream meant, but he believed that it contained his calling, his destiny.


At the time, Dean had just gotten into the convenience store business, which was no calling at all. It would be another five years before he would find one. He had pale freckled skin and black hair, with dark eyes that crinkled up when he smiled or laughed his high-pitched giggle. He got the coloring from his father and the good looks from his mother. He’d been chewing Levi Garrett tobacco since age twelve, and he spoke with the soft intensity of a crusader who never stopped being a country boy. His manner was gentle, respectful, with a quality of refinement that made the men drinking vodka out of plastic cups down at the local Moose Lodge question whether Dean could properly be called a redneck. From childhood on, his favorite Bible verse was Matthew 7:7: “Ask, and it shall be given you; seek, and ye shall find; knock, and it shall be opened unto you.” What he sought his whole life was independence—especially financial independence. His greatest fears, which haunted him all his life, were poverty and failure. He came by them naturally.


His grandparents on both sides had been tobacco farmers, and so had their grandparents, and their grandparents, back to the eighteenth century, all of them on the same few square miles of Rockingham County, North Carolina. They all had Scotch-Irish names that fit neatly on a tombstone: Price, Neal, Hall. And they were all poor. “It’s like if I were to walk down to the creek, I’m going to wear a path,” Dean said. “And every day I’m going to go the same way. That’s how the roads in this country were built, basically. The people that built the roads followed the animals’ paths. And once that path is set, it takes a tremendous amount of effort and energy to take another path. Because you get in that set pattern of thinking, and it’s passed down generation to generation to generation.”


When Dean was a boy, tobacco grew fencepost to fencepost. From April till October you could smell it all over Rockingham County. He was raised in Madison, forty minutes’ drive up Route 220 from Greensboro, and though the Prices lived in town, Dean’s real life was spent out on the tobacco farm of his grandfather Norfleet Price. Norfleet got his name when his daddy, Dean’s great-grandfather, brought a load of tobacco on a two-horse wagon to Winston-Salem, where a man by that last name gave him a very good price. Dean’s father was born on the family land, in a clapboard shack with a front porch, at the edge of a clearing in the hardwood trees. A few feet away was the tobacco barn, a cabin of oak logs cross-stacked with dovetail joints, which Norfleet built with an ax. When Dean was a boy, during the late-summer days when the bright leaf tobacco was primed and hung in the barn for flue curing, he would beg to be allowed to stay there overnight with his grandfather and wake up every hour or two to check that none of the tobacco leaves had fallen into the flames of the oil fire. Priming was backbreaking work, but he loved the smell of tobacco, the big yellowing leaves that grew heavy as leather on stalks four feet high, the way his hands were stained black with sticky tar during the priming, the rhythm of looping the leaves through the stringer and hanging them in bundles like dried flounder from tobacco sticks across the rafters in the barn, the family togetherness. The Prices raised their own meat and grew their own vegetables and got their buttermilk from a lady with a milk cow down the road. School was delayed if the crop came in late, and in the early fall the auction warehouses in Madison burst into life with the harvest jubilee and the brass band parades, a celebration for families that now had their cash for the year, leading up to the holiday feasts. Dean thought that he would grow up to be a tobacco farmer and raise his kids the same way.


Dean’s best friend was his grandfather. Norfleet Price cut wood until the fall before he died, at age eighty-nine, in 2001. Near the end Dean visited him in the rest home and found him strapped to a wheelchair. “Hoss, you got your pocketknife?” his grandfather said.


“Pa, I can’t do that.”


Norfleet wanted to be cut out of the wheelchair. He lasted just a month and a half in the rest home. He was buried in the Price family plot, on a gentle rise in the red clay fields. Norfleet had always worked two or three jobs to get away from his wife, but the name Ruth was carved right next to his on the same headstone, waiting for the body and date of death.


Dean’s father had a chance to break the spell of the family’s poverty thinking. Harold Dean Price, called Pete, was bright and liked to read. Three blank pages at the back of his copy of Merriam-Webster’s dictionary were filled with handwritten definitions of words like “obtuse,” “obviate,” “transpontine,” “miscegenation,” “simulacrum,” “pejorative.” He was a good talker, a fervent hard-shell Baptist, and a bitter racist. Once, Dean visited the civil rights museum in the old Woolworth’s building in downtown Greensboro, where the first sit-ins took place at the lunch counter in 1960. There was a blown-up picture of the four black students from North Carolina A&T walking out onto the street past a mob of white youths who stared them down—hot rods with their hands in their pockets, T-shirts and rolled-up jeans, slicked-back hair, cigarettes hanging from angry mouths. That was Dean’s father. He hated the defiance of the civil rights people, though he never felt that way about Charlie and Adele Smith, the black tenant farmers on the Price land who took care of him when Dean’s grandmother was working at the mill. They were kindhearted and full of humor and understood their place in the scheme of things.


Pete Price met Barbara Neal at a local dance hall and married her in 1961, the year he graduated from Western Carolina College—the first person in his family to get that far. Harold Dean Price II was born in 1963, followed by three sisters. The family moved into a small brick house in Madison, around the corner from the Sharp and Smith tobacco warehouse. Madison and its neighbor Mayodan were textile towns, and in the sixties and seventies the mills had jobs for any young man coming out of high school who wanted one, and if you had a college degree you could take your pick. The brick storefronts on Main Street—pharmacies and haberdasheries and furniture stores and luncheonettes—were full of shoppers, especially on days when the textile warehouses held their sales. “Our country probably prospered as much as it’s ever going to prosper, right there in that era,” Dean said. “They had cheap energy, they had oil in the ground, they had working farms in the surrounding countryside, they had a people that didn’t mind working, they knew what work was about. There was money to be made.”


Dean’s father went to work for the big DuPont plant that manufactured nylon up in Martinsville, just across the Virginia state line. In the late sixties, he fell for the era’s version of a snake oil salesman in the person of Glenn W. Turner, the semiliterate son of a South Carolina sharecropper, who wore shiny three-piece suits and calfskin boots and spoke with the bad lisp of a harelip. In 1967, Turner started a company, Koscot Interplanetary, that sold cosmetics distributorships for five thousand dollars apiece, with the promise of a finder’s fee for every new subfranchisee that the distributor signed up. His followers were also lured into purchasing a black briefcase full of Glenn W. Turner motivational cassette tapes, called “Dare to Be Great,” that went for up to five thousand dollars, with a similar view to getting rich off selling the rights to sell the program. The Prices paid for a distributorship and hosted rousing “Dare to Be Great” parties at their house in Madison: a movie projector showed a film on Turner’s rags-to-riches life story, then the prospects shouted Turner lines about standing on your tiptoes and reaching for the stars. By 1971, “Dare to Be Great” had swept through blue-collar neighborhoods across the country, and Turner was profiled in Life magazine. Then he was investigated for running a pyramid scheme and ultimately served five years in prison, and the Prices lost their money.


In the early seventies, Pete Price got a job as a supervisor at the Duke Energy power station in Belews Creek. After that, he became a vice president at Gem-Dandy in Madison, which made men’s accessories like suspenders for socks. Later still, he was a shift supervisor at the Pine Hall brickyard, on the Dan River near Mayodan. But every time, he got fired by a boss he considered less intelligent than himself, or, more likely, he quit. Quitting became a habit, “just like a crease in your britches,” Dean said. “Once that crease is there it’s virtually impossible to get it out. That’s the way it was with failure to him, and you could not get it out of him. He thought it, he breathed it, he lived it.” The crease started on the Price tobacco farm, where Dean’s father received a disadvantaged piece of land that had no road frontage. Dean’s uncles ended up doing much better in farming. He also suffered from little man’s disease—he stood five seven and a half—and it didn’t help that he lost his hair early. But the biggest failure came in the work that meant the most to Pete Price.


Decades later, Dean kept a black-and-white picture in a frame on his fireplace mantel. A boy with a bowl of shiny black hair cut straight above his eyes, wearing a dark suit with narrow pants that were too short for him, was squinting in the sunlight and hugging a Bible against his chest with both arms, as if for protection. Next to him stood a little girl in a lace-collared dress. It was April 6, 1971. Dean was a few weeks shy of eight, and he was about to give his life to Jesus and be saved. During the seventies, Dean’s father had a series of small churches in little towns, and in each church his dogmatism and rigidity created a rift in the congregation. Each time, the church members voted on whether to keep him as their preacher, and sometimes they went for him and sometimes against him, but he always ended up leaving (for he would get restless, he wanted to be a Jerry Falwell, leading a church that had thousands of members) with hard feelings on all sides. Eventually he had trouble getting another church. He would visit a new town and try out for the job by preaching a sermon, always fire and brimstone, only to be voted down. There was one church in particular, Davidson Memorial Baptist Church, down in Cleveland County, which he’d had his heart set on, and after failing to get that pulpit he never really recovered.


From his father Dean acquired ambition and a love of reading. He went straight through the family’s set of World Book encyclopedias from beginning to end. One night at dinner, when he was around nine or ten, the subject of his ambitions for the future came up. “Well, what do you want to do?” Dean’s father said with a sneer.


“I’d like to be a brain surgeon, a neurologist,” Dean said. It was a word he’d learned in the encyclopedia. “That’s really what I think I’d like to do.”


His father laughed in his face. “You got as much chance of being a neurologist as I’ve got to flying to the moon.”


Dean’s father could be funny and kindhearted, but not with Dean, and Dean hated him for being a quitter and for being cruel. He heard his father preach many sermons, even a few on street corners in Madison, but on some level he didn’t believe them because the meanness and the beatings at home made his father a hypocrite in the pulpit. As a boy, Dean loved baseball more than anything else. In seventh grade he was intimidated by girls, and at ninety pounds soaking wet he was too skinny to play football, but he was a pretty good shortstop at Madison-Mayodan Middle School. In 1976 there were black and white boys on the team, and his father didn’t want him around the black boys. To get Dean away from them, and to win points with his congregation of the moment, Dean’s father pulled him out of public school (Dean begged him not to) and sent him to Gospel Light Christian, a strict, all-white Independent Fundamental Baptist school in Walkertown, a two-hour bus ride from the parsonage on Mayodan Mountain where the Prices then lived. That was the end of Dean’s baseball career, and of his black friends. When Dean was in tenth grade, his father started teaching American and Bible history at Gospel Light, and it would have been easy enough for him to let Dean play baseball after school and then drive the boy home at the end of the day, but his father insisted on leaving school at three o’clock so he could go home and read in his study. It was as if Dean was the competition in the family, and his father had the upper hand and wouldn’t give an inch.


When Dean was seventeen, his father quit the church on Mayodan Mountain and moved the family out to the eastern part of the state, near Greenville, where he took the pulpit of a small church in the town of Ayden. It was his last one. After four months there, Minister Price was sent packing, and the family went back to Rockingham County. They had very little money and moved into Dean’s mother’s family house on Route 220, outside the little town of Stokesdale, a few miles south of Madison. Dean’s grandmother Ollie Neal lived in an apartment they had built in back, and behind the house was the tobacco farm that his grandfather, Birch Neal, had won in a card game in 1932, when Route 220 was a dirt road.


By then, Dean wanted only to escape his father’s dominion. When he turned eighteen, he drove to Winston-Salem and met with a Marine recruiter. He was supposed to return the next morning to enlist, but overnight he changed his mind. He wanted to see the world and live life to its fullest, but he would do it on his own.


At the time Dean graduated from high school, in 1981, the best job around was making cigarettes at the huge R.J. Reynolds factories in Winston-Salem. If you got a job there you were set for life, with good pay and benefits plus two cartons of cigarettes a week. That’s where the B students ended up. The C and D students went to work at the textile mills, where the pay was lower—DuPont and Tultex in Martinsville, Dan River in Danville, Cone in Greensboro, or one of the smaller mills around Madison—or in the furniture factories down in High Point and up in Martinsville and Bassett, Virginia. The A students—three in his class—went to college. (Thirty years later, at his high school reunion, Dean found that his classmates had grown fat and were working in pest control or peddling T-shirts at carnivals. One guy, a career employee at R.J. Reynolds, had lost a job he’d believed to be secure and never got over it.)


Dean never applied himself in school, and the summer after graduating he got a job in the shipping department of a copper tube factory in Madison. He made damn good money for 1981, but it was the kind of job he’d always feared ending up in—the lifers around him with no ambition, spending their days talking about drinking, racing, and fucking. Dean hated it so much that he decided to go to college.


The only one his father would help pay for was Bob Jones University, a Bible school in South Carolina. Bob Jones barred interracial dating and marriage, and in early 1982, a few months after Dean enrolled, the school became national news when the Reagan administration challenged an IRS decision that had denied Bob Jones tax-exempt status. After a storm of criticism, Reagan reversed himself. According to Dean, Bob Jones was the only college in the world where the barbed wire around the campus was turned inward, not outward, like at a prison. The boys had to keep their hair above their ears, and the only way to communicate with the girls on the other side of campus was to write a note and put it in a box that a runner would take from dorm to dorm. The only thing Dean liked about Bob Jones was singing old hymns in morning chapel, like “Praise God, from Whom All Blessings Flow.” He stopped going to class and failed every course his first semester.


At Christmas, he came home and told his father that he was quitting school and moving out of the house. His father slapped him silly, knocked him to the floor. Dean got up and said, “If you ever touch me again I will kill you, I promise you that.” It was the last time he ever lived under his father’s roof.


After Dean moved out, his father went into a downward spiral. He took oxycodone pills by the handful, for back pain, headaches, and other real or invented ailments, prescribed by a dozen different doctors who didn’t know about the others. Dean’s mother found pills hidden in his suit pockets, stashed away in garbage bags. They gave his father a vacant look and wore away his stomach lining. He would retreat into his study as if to read one of his religious books, but that was where he’d pop some oxycodone and zone out. He was admitted into rehab several times.


Out in the world, Dean went hog wild. He quickly discovered the pleasures of alcohol, gambling, marijuana, fighting, and women. His first girl was a minister’s daughter, and he lost his virginity right under the church piano. He was full of rebellion and wanted no part of his father’s God. “I was a shit-ass,” Dean said. “I had no respect for anybody.” He moved to Greensboro and shared a house with a pothead. For a while he had a job as the assistant golf pro at the Greensboro Country Club for a hundred twenty dollars a week. In 1983, when he was twenty, he decided to go back to college and enrolled at the state university in Greensboro. It took Dean six years of bartending to graduate—at one stage his education was interrupted by a five-month trip with his best friend, Chris, to California, where they lived in a VW bus and pursued girls and good times—but in 1989 he finally earned his degree, in political science.


Dean was a registered Republican, and Reagan was his idol. To Dean, Reagan was like a soothing grandfather: he had that ability to communicate and inspire people, like when he spoke about “a city upon a hill.” It was something Dean thought he could do as well, since he was a good speaker and came from a family of preachers. When Reagan talked, you trusted him, and he gave you hope that America could be great again. He was the only politician who ever made Dean want to become one himself—an idea that ended the week he was busted for smoking pot on the steps of a campus building and arrested a few days later for driving under the influence.


He had told himself that he would see the world, and after graduating, Dean bummed around Europe for a few months, sleeping in hostels and sometimes even on park benches. But he was still ambitious—“insanely ambitious,” he liked to say. When he came home, he decided to look for the best job with the best company that he could find.


In his mind, that had always been Johnson & Johnson, up in New Jersey. The employees at Johnson & Johnson wore blue suits, they were clean, articulate, well paid, they drove company cars and had health benefits. Dean moved to Philadelphia with a girlfriend and set out to meet anyone who worked at the company. His first contact was a fellow with perfectly combed blond hair, in a blue seersucker suit, white shoes, and a bow tie—the sharpest dresser Dean had ever seen. He called the corporate offices almost every day of the week, he went in for seven or eight interviews, he spent a year trying to will himself into a job, and in 1991 Johnson & Johnson finally submitted and made him a pharmaceutical rep in Harrisburg. Dean bought a blue suit and cut his hair short and tried to lose the southern accent, which he thought would be taken for backwardness. He was given a pager and a computer, and he drove around in a company car from one doctor’s office to another, sometimes eight a day, with samples of drugs, explaining the benefits and side effects.


It didn’t take him long to realize that he hated the job. At the end of every day, he had to report back to the office about every stop he’d made. He was a robot, a number, and the company was Big Brother watching. Any personal initiative was frowned on if it didn’t fit the Johnson & Johnson mold. After eight months, less time than he’d spent trying to get the position, Dean quit.


He had bought into a lie: go to college, get a good education, get a job with a Fortune 500 company, and you’d be happy. He had done all that and he was miserable. He’d gotten out of his father’s house only to find another kind of servitude. He decided to start over and do things his own way. He would become an entrepreneur.

















TOTAL WAR: NEWT GINGRICH





Big Newt McPherson was a bar brawler in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, during World War II. On the third morning after he married Kit Daugherty, a sixteen-year-old housecleaner, Big Newt’s young bride tried to wake him up from a hangover, and he punched her. That was the end of the marriage, but it had lasted just long enough for Kit to get pregnant. In 1943 she gave birth to a boy and, in spite of everything, named him after her soon-to-be-ex-husband. Three years later, Kit married an army officer named Robert Gingrich, and Big Newt allowed him to adopt Little Newtie to get out of paying child support. “Isn’t it awful,” Kit said years later, “a man willing to sell off his own son?”


Long after Little Newtie became a politician, when he was nearly seventy and grasping for his life’s ambition, he would say, “I grew up in kind of an idyllic children’s background,” but that was on a presidential campaign video. The Gingriches lived above a gas station on the main square in lower-middle-class Hummelstown, and life was narrow and harsh and unforgiving. Little Newtie’s male relatives—farmers, industrial laborers, highway workers—were hard, physical men. His stepfather (also adopted, like Little Newtie, like Big Newt) was a tyrant around the house, silent and intimidating. Little Newtie absorbed his stepfather’s code of toughness, but the pudgy, garrulous boy could never talk his way into the affections of Lieutenant Colonel Bob Gingrich, so they fought constantly. Kit was a manic depressive, spending most of her life tranquilized. Little Newtie was a weird, myopic kid with no close friends. He sought out the older women around him, who fed him sugar cookies and encouraged him to read. The boy who would seem like a nine-year-old at fifty seemed fifty years old at nine. He escaped from life into books and movies. He passionately loved animals, dinosaurs, ancient history, and John Wayne heroes.


On a bright summer’s afternoon when Newt was ten, while his stepfather was stationed in Korea, his mother let him ride the bus by himself into Harrisburg, where he watched a double feature of African safari films. Newt came out into the sunlight at four in the afternoon under the spell of crocodiles and rhinos and adventure, looked up, and noticed a sign pointing down an alley: CITY HALL. Being mature beyond his years, he knew about the importance of citizenship. He was directed to the Parks Department and tried to persuade an official that Harrisburg should set aside money to build a zoo. The story made it onto the front page of the local paper. That was the moment when Newt knew he was destined for leadership.


It took another five years before his mission became clear. At Easter in 1958, while Newt’s stepfather was serving in France, the Gingriches visited Verdun—l’enfer de Verdun, total war. Forty years after World War I, the city still bore artillery wounds. Newt wandered around the scarred battlefield and picked up a couple of rusted helmets he found lying on the ground, which eventually made it onto his bedroom wall along with a grenade fragment. He peered through a window into the Ossuary, where the bones of more than a hundred thousand French and German soldiers lay in huge piles. He saw that life was real. He saw that civilizations could die. He saw what could happen when bad leaders failed to keep their countries safe. He realized that some people had to be willing to give up their lives in order to protect their way of life.


He read Toynbee and Asimov, and his mind filled with visions of civilization in decay. It could happen to America. He decided that he would not be a zoo director or paleontologist after all. His future was in politics. Not as county administrator, or chairman of the transportation committee, or secretary of defense, or even just as president. He was going to be a Great Leader of his people. The models were Lincoln, Roosevelt, and Churchill. (There would be a fourth, but he was still an ex-actor hosting General Electric Theater when Newt walked around Verdun.) He resolved to spend his life figuring out three things: what America needed to survive, how he would persuade the American people to let him provide it, and how he would keep his country free.


Decades later, Gingrich scrawled his destiny in notes on a classroom easel, like ancient hieroglyphs in praise of a conquering warrior:






Gingrich—primary mission


Advocate of civilization


Definer of civilization


Teacher of the Rules of Civilization


Arouser of those who Fan Civilization


Organizer of the pro-civilization activists


Leader (Possibly) of the civilizing forces


A universal rather than an optimal Mission








But first, he had to get through the sixties.


When Bob Gingrich was sent home in 1960, Kit and her son joined him at Fort Benning, Georgia, where Newt campaigned for Nixon against Kennedy. Nixon was his first political interest, and Gingrich read everything he could find on him—another son of the lower middle class, after all, another brooding loner with a hard father and more resentments than friends, nurturing dreams of greatness. In November, Gingrich spent one of the longest nights of his life by the radio listening to Nixon lose to Kennedy.


In high school he secretly dated his geometry teacher, Jackie Battley—seven years his senior, another doting older woman. When Gingrich was nineteen, they married (Bob Gingrich refused to attend), then had two daughters.


As a family man he wasn’t drafted, didn’t enlist, and never set foot in Vietnam. His stepfather despised him for it: “He couldn’t see across the room. Flattest feet I’ve ever seen. He’s physically incapable of doing military service.”


While Jackie worked, Gingrich studied history at Emory, went to Tulane for his Ph.D., became a campus activist. When the Tulane administration banned two pictures it considered obscene from the school paper, Gingrich organized protests against the decision and joined a sit-in. He was still a Republican, but he had reformist views on civil rights, the environment, ethics in government. He read the Tofflers and became a futurist nerd, a cheerleader for the information revolution. Most of all, he liked throwing verbal rocks at established institutions. He had a favorite phrase, “corrupt elite,” that could be hurled in any direction, and for the rest of his life he kept it in his pocket. He would reach power denouncing the cesspool of the sixties and the liberals who swam there, but the decade made him, too.


In 1970 he went back to Georgia and started teaching history at West Georgia College, outside Atlanta. Immediately offered himself for the college presidency—was turned down. In 1974 challenged the conservative Democrat in a district that had never sent a Republican to Congress—lost  in the Watergate wipeout. Ran again in 1976—lost again, while a peanut farmer from Plains was elected president. “Gerald Ford personally cost me a congressional seat,” he fumed. But Gingrich wasn’t about to run low on ambition. And he was getting closer. When the incumbent announced his retirement, 1978 began to look like Gingrich’s year. Gingrich and 1978 were made for each other.


He was something new in politics—a man of the New South (not really a southerner at all), the modern, middle-class South of the space program and the gated community. He didn’t make racial appeals, didn’t seem very religious. The suburbs north of Atlanta were a mix of Norman Rockwell and fiber optics, the incarnation of a trend forecast a decade earlier in Nixon’s 1968 campaign: an emerging Republican majority concentrated in the Sunbelt. Gingrich, who loved aircraft carriers, moon launches, and personal computers, understood these people.


In 1978, with vandalism in the cities, stagflation across the country, and a humorless moralizer in the White House preaching sacrifice, the public’s mood was sour, frustrated, suspicious of bureaucracies and special interests, antigovernment, antitax—populist and conservative. Gingrich’s Democratic opponent was made to order, a wealthy liberal female state senator originally from New York. Gingrich knew exactly what to do. He moved to the right and went after her on welfare and taxes. He had a new rock in his pocket, “the corrupt liberal welfare state,” and he nailed her between the eyes with it. The Moral Majority was about to take Washington by storm, and Gingrich talked about family values, said that his opponent would break her family up if she went to Washington, and featured Jackie and the girls in his ads.


But Jackie looked fat and unattractive, and it was an open secret in political circles that Newt was cheating on her. Like most Arousers of those who Fan Civilization, he had powerful appetites, but he had not grown up to be the most desirable of men—big head under big graying helmet, cold clever grin, belly pushing against his sky-blue waistline—and his successes were limited. He tried to keep it to oral sex so he could claim literal fidelity if anyone asked, but within two years the marriage was over, another adoring woman about to become the next Mrs. Gingrich, the Advocate of civilization standing at Jackie’s hospital bed as she lay recovering from uterine cancer, a yellow legal pad with divorce terms in his hand. Years later, Gingrich would attribute his indiscretions to hard work brought on by patriotic zeal.


Gingrich won easily in 1978, and his party picked up fifteen seats in the House (the freshman class included Dick Cheney). It was a sign of what was coming in 1980.


The Organizer of the pro-civilization activists arrived in Washington with a plan. He would kick over the old order, put fear in the ruling Democrats, call them a “corrupt left-wing machine” (another rock—his pocket was bottomless), go after committee chairmen, bait Speakers of the House until they were red-faced with rage. He would shake up the timid Republicans, too, shame their leaders, create a cadre of young fighters, teach them the ways of politics (he liked to quote Mao: “war without blood”), give them a new language, an ecstatic vision, until the party would turn to its terrible child for deliverance. Then he would save the country—Speaker—President—Leader (Possibly) of the civilizing forces.


And Gingrich did most of it.


He saw all the available weapons on the battlefield, some never used before. Two months after his arrival, C-SPAN switched on its cameras in the House of Representatives, broadcasting Congress to the public for the first time. Gingrich immediately knew what to do—take the floor after regular order was over and give incendiary speeches to an empty chamber that would bring media attention and slowly build a devoted TV following. (Regardless of the rock labeled “elite liberal media,” he knew they loved a fight more than anything else.) In 1984, a speech calling the Democrats appeasers brought down the wrath of Tip O’Neill—“It’s the lowest thing that I’ve ever seen in my thirty-two years here!” But the Speaker’s remarks, being personal, were stricken from the record, and the incident landed Gingrich on the nightly news. “I am now a famous person,” he crowed, understanding the new rules of celebrity—that it would not be a bad thing to say, for example, “I have an enormous personal ambition. I want to shift the entire planet. And I’m doing it.”


The old party system had become obsolete, snuffed out by high-minded reformers who wanted to end patronage and political bosses in smoke-filled rooms. Gingrich saw this happening, too—how politicians were turning into entrepreneurs who depended on special-interest PACs, think tanks, media, and lobbyists more than on the party hierarchy. So he gave speeches around Washington, wrote a book (financed by supporters), and created his own power base, with a fundraising apparatus and a political action committee. He recruited Republican candidates around the country and trained them with his own words and ideas on videotapes and cassettes, like a motivational speaker, understanding that language was the key to power. His memos included vocabulary lessons: if you discussed your opponent with words like betray bizarre bosses bureaucracy cheat corrupt crisis cynicism decay destroy disgrace impose incompetent liberal lie limit(s) obsolete pathetic radical shame sick stagnation status quo steal taxes they/them threaten traitors unionized waste welfare, you had him on the defensive, and if you described your side with change children choice/choose common sense courage crusade dream duty empower(ment) family freedom hard work lead liberty light moral opportunity pro-(issue) proud/pride reform strength success tough truth vision we/us/our, you had already won the argument. The Gingrich lexicon could be arranged into potent sentences regardless of context, or even meaning: “We can empower our children and families to dream by leading a moral crusade for liberty and truth if only we are tough and have common sense.” “Corrupt liberal bosses cheat, lie, and steal to impose their sick pathetic cynicism and bizarre radical stagnation in order to destroy America.” Thus a whole generation of politicians learned to sound like Newt Gingrich.


And he saw that the voters no longer felt much connection to the local parties or national institutions. They got their politics on TV, and they were not persuaded by policy descriptions or rational arguments. They responded to symbols and emotions. They were growing more partisan, too, living in districts that were increasingly Democratic or Republican, liberal or conservative. Donors were more likely to send money if they could be frightened or angered, if the issues were framed as simple choices between good and evil—which was easy for a man whose America stood forever at a historic crossroads, its civilization in perpetual peril.


By the end of the eighties, Gingrich was radically changing Washington and the Republican Party. Maybe more than Reagan—maybe more than anyone else. Then history went into high gear.


In 1989 he bagged his biggest prey when Jim Wright, the Democratic Speaker, resigned because of ethics charges that had been relentlessly pressed by backbencher Gingrich. Seeing what total war could achieve, the Republicans made him one of their leaders, and the Teacher of the Rules of Civilization did not fail them. In 1994 he nationalized the midterms by getting nearly every Republican candidate to sign his Contract with America in front of the Capitol, pronouncing it “a first step towards renewing American civilization.” In November his party took both houses of Congress, for the first time since that African safari double feature. It was the Gingrich revolution, and he became its Robespierre—Speaker of the House, media obsession, equal ruler with the red-cheeked Arkansas boy in the White House, whose origins and desires bore such a striking resemblance to his own.


Gingrich called Clinton a “counterculture McGovernik” and “the enemy of normal Americans.” He thought he could bend the president to his will: Clinton wanted to be loved, Gingrich wanted to be feared. They spent 1995 circling around the budget. When they met in the White House, Gingrich dictated terms, while Clinton studied Gingrich. He saw the nine-year-old’s insecurities writhing beneath the fiery words. He understood why none of Gingrich’s colleagues could stand him. He saw how to exploit the grandiosity. Clinton’s need for love gave him insight, and he used it to seduce his adversary while setting traps for him, and when at the end of the year the United States of America was forced to close for business, it was Gingrich who got the blame.


And that was the end of the primary mission.


Gingrich remained Speaker for three more years. He achieved things that the media would never give him credit for—credit went to the boy from Arkansas (he always got the hottest women, they wanted him even before he came to power). Then the logic of total war caught up with both men. In 1997, Gingrich was reprimanded by the House and fined a record three hundred thousand dollars for laundering political contributions through his various nonprofits (some of his allies wanted to escort him to the guillotine). In 1998 there was only one thing, and that was Monica. When oral sex and lying failed to destroy Clinton, and the Democrats defied history by picking up seats in the midterms, the Gingrich revolutionaries turned on their leader. He resigned the Speakership and his seat, saying, “I’m not willing to preside over people who are cannibals.” The last vote he ever cast was to impeach his rival. Later, he admitted to carrying on an affair throughout his time as Speaker with a woman twenty-three years his junior. He left Congress after two decades but stayed on in Washington.


By then it was Newt Gingrich’s city as much as anyone’s. Whether he ever truly believed his own rhetoric, the generation he brought to power fervently did. He gave them mustard gas and they used it on every conceivable enemy, including him. At the millennium the two sides were dug deep in opposing trenches, the positions forever fixed, bodies piling up in the mud, last year’s corpses this year’s bones, a war whose causes no one could quite explain, with no end in sight: l’enfer de Washington.


Perhaps he had wanted it this way all along. Politics without war could be rather boring.


The young Tiffany-wearing congressional aide with whom he had been cheating on the second Mrs. Gingrich became the third. Washington’s think tanks and partisan media made a place for him, because he had helped make theirs. Like his rival, he spent his time out of office with rich people. Never having had money (he was in debt throughout most of his career), he set out to make a lot of it, selling his connections and influence—for shifting the entire planet required him to grab every opportunity in the bipartisan lobbying industry. And his books came out in frantic conveyor-belt fashion, seventeen in eight years—for America’s decay kept growing deeper, its elite liberal media more destructive, its secular-socialist machine more radical, the Democrat in the White House more alien, and the desire to save America was undimmed, and the need to be heard was unquenchable.


He finally ran for president when it was much too late, but the old man in the white helmet with the cold clever boyish grin still found what he wanted whenever he reached into his pocket.

















JEFF CONNAUGHTON





Jeff Connaughton first saw Joe Biden in 1979. Biden was thirty-six, the sixth-youngest person ever elected to the United States Senate. Connaughton was nineteen, a business major at the University of Alabama. His parents lived up in Huntsville, where his father worked for thirty years as a chemical engineer with the Army Missile Command, a job he’d landed after flying forty-seven missions over Europe, China, and Japan with the Army Air Corps, then attending Tuscaloosa on the GI Bill, then going from a dollar an hour in a Birmingham steel mill to an Arkansas furniture factory to National Gypsum in Mobile to the booming postwar defense industry. Working on small-rocket propulsion was a good middle-class job, topping out at fifty-five thousand a year, underwritten by the federal government and the Cold War, but Mr. and Mrs. Connaughton had both grown up in poverty. Jeff’s father had watched his father march through Washington, D.C., with the Bonus Army in 1932. Jeff’s mother was from Town Creek, Alabama, and as a little girl she and her sisters had helped out during the hard times by picking cotton on her grandmother’s farm. When she was five, she saved a nickel to buy her mother a birthday present. One day, the little girl fell ill with a 104-degree fever, and when the ice truck passed outside and her mother wanted to buy a block of ice to cool her fever, she refused, because her five cents was the only money in the house. It was a story Jeff always thought he’d tell if he ever ran for office.


The Connaughtons split their vote. Jeff’s mother could remember the day FDR came to Town Creek to open the Wheeler Dam, and all the children ran down to the station and watched in a solemn hush as the president was lifted from the train into a car. She would vote Democrat all her life. The first time Jeff’s father went to vote, in Alabama after the war, and asked how to do it, the poll worker said, “Just vote for the names beneath the rooster,” which was the symbol of the Alabama Democratic Party, the only one that mattered back then. On the spot Mr. Connaughton became a Republican, and he remained one over the following decades as the rest of the white South caught up with him. But years later, after Jeff went to Washington to work for Biden and became what he would call a Professional Democrat, his dad voted for Clinton—even for Obama. By then, most everyone in their suburb was staunchly Republican, and someone stole the Obama-Biden signs right out of the Connaughtons’ front yard. Mr. Connaughton was voting for his son.


Jeff Connaughton was short and sandy-haired, smart and hardworking, with the lifelong inferiority complex that’s bred into boys from Alabama. Growing up, he had no clear political views. In 1976 he was inspired when Ronald Reagan spoke at the Republican convention about “the erosion of freedom that has taken place under Democratic rule in this country”; in 1979, when Jimmy Carter diagnosed a “crisis of confidence” in America, warning that “too many of us now tend to worship self-indulgence and consumption,” Connaughton defended what came to be called the “malaise” speech in an opinion piece for The Tuscaloosa News. He was a swing voter until he moved to Washington; he also revered the Kennedys. Once, in 1994, he attended a fundraiser at Hickory Hill for Kathleen Kennedy Townsend, with Ethel and other Kennedys graciously welcoming every guest on the front lawn of the manor. Connaughton slipped off into the study, where he wasn’t supposed to go, and took from the shelf a bound volume of Robert F. Kennedy’s speeches—the original manuscripts, with handwritten notes. Connaughton’s eyes fell on a sentence that read, “We should do better.” Kennedy had crossed out “should” and replaced it with “must.” Connaughton was holding holy scripture. That was his first idea of politics: great speeches, historic events (the assassinations), black-and-white portraits of JFK in the Oval Office and the Rose Garden. He was that overlooked and necessary thing in the annals of Washington, not Hamlet but Rosencrantz, not a principal but a follower—years later he would say, “I am the perfect number two guy”—drawn to the romance of public service and to power, which eventually became inextricable.


In early 1979, when Connaughton was a sophomore, a friend at the University of Pennsylvania asked him to be Alabama’s delegate to the annual meeting of the National Student Congress, in Philadelphia. The plane ticket would cost a hundred fifty dollars. Connaughton was granted twenty-five bucks from the student government’s budget, and The Tuscaloosa News offered to give him seventy-five dollars for a story based on the experience. The last fifty dollars came out of the cash register at a Wendy’s where Connaughton ate a couple of meals a week—the manager was touched by the story of a college student trying to pay his way to a national assembly whose purpose was to combat apathy on campus and restore faith in politics a few years after Watergate and Vietnam.


The first speaker at the meeting in Philadelphia was an ultraconservative Republican congressman from Illinois named Dan Crane, one of the many thousands of men and women who go to Washington as the elected representatives of the American people and serve out their time in the halls of Congress without leaving a trace. The second was Joe Biden. He began by saying, “If Representative Crane had just given you the liberal point of view, this would be the conservative view: You’re all under arrest.” The line brought down the house. The rest of the speech didn’t leave a mark on Connaughton’s memory, but the speaker did. Biden was youthful, he was witty, he knew how to talk to college students. Connaughton never forgot the moment.


Back in Tuscaloosa, he started the Alabama Political Union, and for its first event in the fall he invited Biden and Senator Jake Garn, a Republican from Utah, to debate the SALT II arms control treaty. Both senators accepted (in 1979 there was no ban on accepting the five-hundred-dollar honorarium the university was offering—just a restriction limiting outside income to 15 percent of a senator’s $57,500 salary, which had taken effect on January 1), but then Garn backed out. The debate threatened to be reduced to a mere speech.


Connaughton got in his Chevy Nova with a friend who was visiting from Brigham Young University and who, like Garn, was a Mormon. They drove fourteen hours to the nation’s capital to change Senator Garn’s mind. Connaughton had never been to Washington, and the Beltway offered no obvious exits into the city—it was more of a moat than a conduit—and the Capitol dome kept appearing in the distance and then disappearing. Finally they found their way onto backstreets that led toward Capitol Hill. This was poor, black Washington, blighted Washington, the Washington of the district’s 80 percent, neighborhoods that Connaughton would rarely see again in the two decades he would live and work in the city.


In the morning, they found Garn’s office in the Russell Senate Office Building, along one of the lofty and immensely long corridors, behind one of the high, forbidding mahogany doors. Because he had brought a Utah Mormon with him, Connaughton was granted an unscheduled audience right there in the waiting room with the senator himself, but he was unable to change Garn’s mind—he had another commitment the day of the debate. So Connaughton and the Mormon friend left and wandered around Russell—two young out-of-towners dwarfed by the white Vermont marble and Concord granite and dark mahogany and the clubby, bipartisan institutional dignity that was still intact, though it would soon begin to crack and then crumble—looking for a Republican senator to sign up. But the halls were nearly empty, in an undemocratic hush, and Connaughton barely knew what any senators looked like. He might have glimpsed Howard Baker, Jacob Javits, Chuck Percy, or Barry Goldwater. Among the Democrats, Hubert Humphrey had died recently, but Edmund Muskie was still there, and Frank Church, Birch Bayh, Gaylord Nelson, George McGovern. All of them soon to be swept away.


Suddenly a buzzer went off, and out of nowhere the corridor filled with tall, gray-haired, distinguished-looking men. Connaughton and his friend followed them into an elevator (wasn’t that little Japanese man in the tam-o’-shanter S. I. Hayakawa?), down to the basement and the subterranean electric cars that shuttled back and forth along a thirty-second track between Russell and the Capitol. Among the senators striding toward the next car was Ted Kennedy, who smiled at being recognized and shook hands with the friend, who had stepped forward. As for Connaughton, he was too awestruck to move. (The public didn’t know it, but Kennedy was preparing to challenge President Carter for the 1980 Democratic nomination: it was Biden who had first alerted Carter, in early 1978, that Kennedy was coming after him.)


Connaughton returned to Tuscaloosa without a Republican to debate SALT II. It didn’t matter. Biden arrived that September wearing one of his tailored suits and power ties, trim and flashing his white-toothed smile, and he charmed the hell out of the lovely coeds over dinner at Phi Mu on Sorority Row (Connaughton’s girlfriend was a member), with Jeff attached to the senator’s elbow as his adjutant for the evening and now seriously considering a political career. Two hundred people filled the student center for Biden’s speech. Connaughton made the introduction, then took his seat in the front row as Biden came to the lectern.


“I know you’re all here tonight because you’ve heard what a great man I am,” Biden began. “Yep, I’m widely known as what they call ‘presidential timber.’” The crowd laughed nervously, thrown by his sense of humor. “Why, just earlier tonight I spoke to a group of students who had put up a great big sign, ‘Welcome Senator Biden.’ And then when I walked under the sign I heard someone say, ‘That must be Senator Bidden.’” The laughter rose. Now Biden had the crowd, and he turned to his subject and spent ninety minutes arguing lucidly and without notes for the importance of reducing the American and Soviet nuclear arsenals, while he dismantled the arguments of SALT II’s opponents in the Senate. The day before, the treaty had suffered a blow with the supposed revelation of a brigade of Soviet troops in Cuba. “Folks, I’m going to let you in on a little secret,” Biden whispered, and he took the microphone and walked toward his audience, gesturing for the crowd to lean in and listen. “Those troops have been in Cuba all along!” he shouted. “And everyone knows it!” At the end of the lecture, the applause was loud and long. When Connaughton got up to approach Biden and thank him, he accidentally started a standing ovation.


A campus security guard drove Biden back to the Birmingham airport, and Connaughton went along. Biden looked tired from his speech, but he answered every beginner’s question from the guard (“What’s the difference between a Democrat and a Republican?”) as thoughtfully as if it had come from David Brinkley. When Connaughton asked Biden why he rode the train from Wilmington to Washington every day, the senator calmly told the story of the car accident that had nearly wiped out his young family in December 1972, just a month after his election to the Senate. “My wife and baby girl were killed,” Biden said, “and my sons were badly injured. So I stayed with my sons at the hospital. I really didn’t want to be a senator. But eventually I was sworn in at my son’s bedside. And I served, but I went home every night to be with my sons. And over the years, Delaware just got used to having me home every day. And so I really can’t ever move to Washington.”


That was the moment Jeff Connaughton was hooked by Joe Biden. Here was tragedy, here was energy, here was oratory—just like the Kennedys. Biden turned his charisma on everyone who crossed his path and didn’t move on until he had made a connection—the sorority girls, the audience at the speech (many of the students attending for course credit), the security guard, the junior business major who had invited him to Tuscaloosa in the first place. This was the need and drive of a man who wanted to be president, and as they got out at the airport, Connaughton produced a spiral notebook that Biden signed, “To Jeff and the APU, Please stay involved in politics. We need you all,” and he knew that he would end up following this man to the White House. What he would do once he got there wasn’t clear, and didn’t really matter. The point was to be in the room, at the summit of American life.


Before graduating from Alabama, Connaughton brought Biden (along with dozens of other elected officials) down twice more on paid speaking gigs, and Biden told the same jokes each time before giving his speech, which, by the third visit, was worth a thousand dollars. The last time he dropped Biden off at the Birmingham airport, Connaughton told the senator, “If you ever run for president, I’m going to be there.”




*





He didn’t immediately head to Washington. First he went to the University of Chicago Business School, with a letter of recommendation from Biden himself. It was 1981, and Time ran a cover story called “The Money Chase,” about the vogue for MBAs; the cover image showed a graduating student whose mortarboard had a tassel made of dollars. Connaughton had never had any money, and Wall Street’s magnetic pull was almost as strong as the allure of the White House. The whole point of an MBA was Wall Street. Just as it would be absurd to go to Washington and end up at the Interior Department, there was no appeal in getting a prestigious business degree only to work for a company like Procter & Gamble or IBM. Among his classmates, a job with a company that actually made things meant you were being left behind. Toward the end of his second year, Connaughton flew to Miami to interview with Ryder Truck, and the whole time he was thinking that if it weren’t Miami and a day at the beach he wouldn’t know why he was bothering. He’d had a summer job at Conoco Oil in Houston between his first and second years, and they wanted him to come back and make a career there, but the thought of starting out at thirty-two grand and moving laterally every six months from Lake Charles, Louisiana, to Ponca City, Oklahoma, was at least as dismal as working for a trucking company. Connaughton came from flyover country—he didn’t want to work there. If he didn’t get a position at an investment bank like Salomon Brothers or Goldman Sachs, or else a management consulting firm like McKinsey, he would feel like a failure.


Connaughton didn’t forget about Joe Biden. Working till midnight in the university library, he would put aside his finance books and dig up old issues of Time from the sixties and read again about the assassinations, Jack’s presidency, Bobby’s rise. He still wanted to find himself in those black-and-white photos. Even as he applied to Wall Street, he followed Biden’s career closely and wrote several letters asking for a job—not to the senator’s office, or to the staff guy there whom he’d gotten to know a little, who might have actually written back, but to Biden himself: “Dear Senator Biden, I’m coming up on graduating from Chicago and …” He didn’t understand that the office answered mail only from Delaware—that his letters went straight into a wastebasket.


Connaughton was hired by Smith Barney’s public finance department, beginning at forty-eight thousand dollars, and he moved to New York in the summer of 1983. It was just the right moment to start out on Wall Street, and if Connaughton had stayed, like some of his Chicago classmates, he might have made a small fortune. Public finance meant tax-exempt bonds for state and local governments, which was not the place to make a pile, but it suited Connaughton, who had written in his business school application that he wanted to understand the intersection between business and government and have a career in which he moved back and forth between them. Smith Barney was underwriting water and sewer bonds in Florida, where the cities and towns were doubling their populations every few years and needed help raising fifty or a hundred million dollars for infrastructure projects.


The firm would throw lavish thirty-thousand-dollar closing dinners at Lutèce in Manhattan, with limos provided, and assure clients that it wouldn’t cost their home state a thing: they could recoup the underwriting fees (including the dinner) by investing funds that they’d raised in the tax-exempt market and make 3 percent more on interest rates than they were paying on their public bonds. Connaughton would tell officials, “I can give you front-row seats to Cats, just let me know, it won’t cost your taxpayers a dime.” They would hesitate, but almost every time he’d have a message on his answering machine the next morning: “We changed our mind—we would like to go to Cats.” Once, another banker went down to Jackson County, Tennessee, and explained to the board of commissioners that the higher the bank’s fees, the more money the county would eventually save. From the back of the room a man drawled out a reply: “Bullll-shit …” As a southerner, Connaughton believed that whenever an investment banker from New York came down saying “We can save you money,” there needed to be someone in the room saying “Bullll-shit.”


Connaughton shared an apartment (rented by the firm) on the Upper East Side. He would roll into Smith Barney’s midtown headquarters around 9:30 in the morning, work all day, step out with colleagues for dinner, and go back to the office till midnight. He wasn’t as smart as some of the geeks running numbers on bond scenarios at the computers around him, but as a southerner he was more fun, and he had connections to Alabama women in Manhattan. He never did drugs, not once (years later, when he was hired to work at the Clinton White House and was asked about drug use as part of his security clearance, Connaughton said, “I’ve been waiting my entire life to answer that question”). But he drank plenty of bourbon and once danced all night at Studio 54. From November on, the only topic among his coworkers was the size of their year-end bonus.


After a year, he was transferred to Chicago. Hating the cold and missing the South, he passed up a twenty-thousand-dollar bonus and, at the start of 1985, jumped over to E. F. Hutton’s office in Atlanta. Several months after his arrival, the firm pleaded guilty to two thousand counts of wire and mail fraud in a massive check-kiting scandal. Throughout the eighties E. F. Hutton had been writing checks for sums it couldn’t cover and transferring the money between accounts, using the funds for a day or two as interest-free loans and making millions of dollars on the float. Up in Washington, Joe Biden of the Senate Judiciary Committee was on the case. He began going on TV talking about the growing epidemic of white-collar crime on Wall Street and the failure of the Reagan Justice Department to police it. In a speech at NYU he said, “People believe that our system of law and those who manage it have failed, and may not even have tried, to deal effectively with unethical and possibly illegal misconduct in high places.” Reagan was in his senescent second term, his administration riddled with corruption, and Biden was setting himself up to go after the big prize.


The guilty plea cost E. F. Hutton clients and began to hollow out the firm, but Connaughton survived. As he learned the business, he would fly down to Florida by himself and meet with city treasurers. He even came up with a marketable idea: The towns and counties had huge pension liabilities—why not arbitrage them? Issue a hundred-million-dollar pension bond tax-free at 4 percent, then invest the money for a few years at 6 or 7 percent? It was a kind of scam on the U.S. taxpayer. But a bond firm gave a favorable opinion (it was legal if you could get a law firm to tell you it was legal—lawyers were becoming more creative as the action got exponentially more profitable), and his boss, a former bond lawyer himself, was pleased. Connaughton was figuring out how to do investment banking in the 1980s. Playing the tax rules was a racket.


He was a twenty-seven-year-old assistant vice president making more than a hundred grand, and yet he went home in the evenings thinking this was not what he wanted to do with his life. By the end of 1986 it was clear that Biden would run for president. Connaughton had never forgotten him. He pulled a string with an E. F. Hutton lobbyist who had connections to the campaign. It worked.


“Biden was like a cult figure to me,” Connaughton said much later. “He was the guy I was going to follow because he was my horse. I was going to ride that horse into the White House. That was going to be my next stop in life. I had done Wall Street, and I was going to do the White House next.”

















1984





On January 24, Apple Computer will introduce Macintosh. And you’ll see why 1984 won’t be like 1984. … BANK SECURITIES UNITS MAY UNDERWRITE BONDS … It’s morning again in America, and under the leadership of President Reagan, our country is prouder and stronger and better. Why would we ever want to return to where we were less than four short years ago? … I had a job, I had a girl / I had something going mister in this world / I got laid off down at the lumberyard / Our love went bad, times got hard … TAMPA SEES GAINS FOR ITS HARD WORK “But those kinds of things can’t do for us, long-term, what a Super Bowl can do. This is a real opportunity for us to show people what a great place this is, that they can come here and not expect to get taken advantage of.” … MISS AMERICA IS ORDERED TO QUIT FOR POSING NUDE … You’re judged by performance. Why drive a car that lives by a lesser code? … At Bank of New England, Vice President David E. Hersee, Jr., went apartment hunting for the daughter of a California customer who was moving to Boston. Of course, apartment hunting is reserved for the very best clients. … LINDA GRAY’S SECRET LOVE Just Like “Dallas” Role—She Falls for Younger Man … In the four years before we took office, country after country fell under the Soviet yoke. Since January 20, 1981, not one inch of soil has fallen to the Communists. … U.S.A.! U.S.A.! U.S.A.! … BEEPERS SAID TO LINK LEGIONS OF AREA’S WORKAHOLICS Devices Now Perceived As Lifelines; No Longer a High-Tech Oddity … The housing finance industry needs a national mortgage exchange that does for mortgages and mortgage-backed securities trading “what the New York Stock Exchange does for corporate stock trading,” Fannie Mae Chairman David O. Maxwell told … NEW U.S. REPORT NAMES VIRUS THAT MAY CAUSE AIDS … There are times in everyone’s life when something constructive is born out of adversity. There are times when things seem so bad that you’ve got to grab your fate by the shoulders and shake it. I’m convinced it was that morning at the warehouse that pushed me to take on the presidency of Chrysler. … REAGAN WINS REELECTION IN LANDSLIDE Victory Shows Broad Appeal of President … And I feel like I’m a rider on a downbound train.

















TAMMY THOMAS





Tammy Thomas grew up on the east side of Youngstown, Ohio. Years after she left when things got bad there and moved down to the south side, and after she left the south side when things got bad there and moved up to the north side, in certain moods she would drive her metal-gray 2002 Pontiac Sunfire over the expressway, which broke up the city when it came through in the late sixties, and return to look around her old neighborhood.


When Tammy was coming up in the sixties and seventies, the east side was still a mixed area. Next door to her house on Charlotte Avenue there had been an Italian family. Hungarians lived across the street, the blue house was Puerto Rican, and there were a few black homeowners, too. The wide-open field at the corner of Charlotte and Bruce had once been her elementary school. Down Bruce Street there had been a church that was later hit by a storm and torn down. A few streets away on Shehy, where three wooden crosses now rose from the earth and the sidewalk was spray-painted BLOOD and FROM PHILLY TO YOUNGSTOWN NIGGA, there had been a neighborhood store, next to the house where Tammy’s mother lived before it was firebombed. A depression that cut through the grass of two lots had been an alley lined with peach and apple trees. Back then, everyone raised flowers and vegetables in their yard—around her house on Charlotte there had been rose of Sharon, forsythia, tulips, hyacinth. As a girl she used to sit on her front porch and look down the street and see the tops of the smokestacks, and if the wind blew right she could smell the sulfur. The men on the east side had good jobs, most of them in the mills. Families kept up their property and were proud to own three-story houses with gable roofs and front porches and yards, all of them big compared to a working-class home in the Northeast (the first time Tammy saw row houses in Philly she thought, “Where are their yards, where are their driveways?”). Back then the mob kept things in order, so there weren’t a whole lot of shenanigans going on.


Tammy had a friend, Sybil West, whom she called Miss Sybil because she was Tammy’s mother’s age. Miss Sybil once wrote down in a little spiral memo book all the things that she could remember from when she was coming up on the east side in the fifties and sixties.




pool halls


confectionery w/music for teens


Isaly dairy


first mall


buses that hook up to live wires


Lincoln Park w/pool


knife sharpeners w/monkeys to entertain kids


farmers selling fruits + vegetables in neighborhood trucks


City at that time was so safe people slept w/doors unlocked. People very neighborly + much interaction occurred in schools as well as neighborhoods.





As Tammy drove over the crumbling asphalt of the streets, she was still amazed by the gaps and silence where there had once been so much life. It was as if she still expected to see the old families, and the east side had just disappeared. Where had it all gone? The things that had made it a community—stores, schools, churches, playgrounds, fruit trees—were gone, along with half the houses and two-thirds of the people, and if you didn’t know the history, you wouldn’t know what was missing. The east side had never been the best part of Youngstown, but it had the most black homeowners, and to Tammy it had always been the greenest, the least dense, the most beautiful—you could pick peaches around Lincoln Park—and now parts of it were almost returning to nature, with deer wandering across overgrown lots where people came to dump their garbage.


It made her damn mad to see how McGuffey Plaza was abandoned—a model shopping mall that was built in the fifties by the Cafaro family, with a bowling alley, an A&P, a bunch of other stores, and a huge parking lot in front—now just a concrete desert, with nothing but one black haircare shop left open. It frustrated her that everyone had forgotten about the east side. Not sad, not sentimental, she was frustrated, because she hadn’t given up and wouldn’t slip into the resignation that had settled over Youngstown, because this city was where she had lived her whole life, and her past was still real to her, and there was still something to be done.


It frustrated her to see the house on Charlotte, with the gable off to the right side and the brick chimney in back, where she had lived for twenty years. The house had been vacant since the mid-2000s, and the yellow paint on the clapboards was weathering bare. It would have been easy to push open her old front door or climb in through a hollow window and walk upstairs to the second-floor front bedroom that had been hers when she was little, but she sat idling the Pontiac and stared through the windshield. “Oh my God,” she muttered. She was afraid she would feel a little emotional if she went in. She knew the wiring and woodwork had been stripped, and her granny had worked so hard for that house.


Granny was Tammy’s great-grandmother, her mother’s father’s mother. It was Granny who had raised Tammy from a girl. There was a lot Tammy didn’t know for certain about Granny. She had two birth dates, one in 1904 (according to Social Security) and one in 1900 (according to herself). Granny’s mother, Big Mama, might have been born near Raleigh, North Carolina, and sold off by her family to a white man in Richmond, Virginia, where Granny was born (unless she was born in Winston-Salem, North Carolina), and Granny very well could have been a mulatto—she was very fair, with long straight hair. Granny’s name was Virginia Miller, but when she had a son he was given the last name Thomas because by then Big Mama had married Henry Thomas, Granny’s stepfather, and Papa Thomas and Big Mama raised the boy.


Tammy tried to research the family history at the Freedom Center in Cincinnati, but a lot of it had vanished. Granny didn’t appear in the 1920 census, and in 1930 she was listed as a “niece” in the Thomas household, age seventeen, with a son, age five—so the census had her age wrong, and also her place in the family. The farther Tammy went, the more mysteries she ran into. There were other names in the 1930 census, great-aunts and great-uncles listed as Big Mama’s children who were not hers, which was normal in black families. “You took care of the kids,” Tammy said later, “and the kids would be raised alongside cousins and brothers and sisters. But it creates a lot of confusion because you really don’t know whose is whose, and they didn’t talk about it.” Granny never talked about these things, either, and now she was gone.


One thing Tammy knew almost for sure was that Granny had had to drop out of school near Winston-Salem in the eighth grade and go to work in the tobacco fields. In the twenties she left the South and came up to Ohio, where she found day work cleaning houses, and later a job in the arc engraving department of the Youngstown Vindicator. During the Depression the rest of the Thomas household—Papa Thomas, Big Mama, various great-aunts and great-uncles, and Granny’s son—followed her north and settled in Struthers, across the Mahoning River on the southeastern edge of Youngstown, where there was a coking plant with a smokestack that shot out blue flames. Some of Tammy’s relatives got jobs in the steel mills, and the family owned several houses in Struthers. Papa Thomas brought his farming skills north and cultivated the yards. They had plum trees, an apple tree, a peach tree, a chestnut tree, and five cherry trees. Two of the neighbor women made jelly and swapped it with Tammy’s great-aunt for plum wine. When Tammy was a girl, she and Granny would visit their Struthers family on weekends. “To me this was living in the country,” she said, “and as I grew older I realized our family who lived up here kind of had it going on.”


Tammy’s line of the family did not have it going on. Her grandfather came back from World War II with a heroin addiction. His wife became an alcoholic. In 1966, their daughter Vickie, a pretty, fine-boned seventeen-year-old, gave birth to a girl and named her Tammy. The father was a street-smart fifteen-year-old from the projects named Gary Sharp, nicknamed Razor. He and Vickie had no use for each other. She dropped out of high school, and soon after becoming a mother she started using. Vickie and Tammy went to live with Granny, who was approaching seventy and working as a maid, cleaning, cooking, and providing companionship for a rich widow on the north side for around fifty dollars a week. The care of the baby fell to Granny.


They lived on Lane Avenue after the I-680 expressway came through Granny’s old apartment—Tammy, Granny, Vickie, and Tammy’s grandfather and his wife and children, while whoever else came in and out. When Granny was off at work, pretty much everyone in the household was using. Vickie also smoked, and sometimes she fell asleep with a cigarette still burning. As a little girl Tammy would try to stay awake until after her mother went to sleep, then take the cigarette out of her hand. From the age of three she was taking care of her mother.


She loved sleeping in her granny’s bed, but sometimes—less often—she would climb in with her mother, and maybe because she never got enough of that when she was little, she kept doing it as an adult, especially when she wasn’t feeling good and needed comfort, just crawled into her mom’s bed, even at the hospital with the nurses telling her to get out.


It was Granny who took Tammy to church on Sunday with the Thomas relatives in Struthers, and shopping in Youngstown on Saturday. They would put on their gloves and hats, and Tammy would wear her little lace tops and patent leather shoes, and they would ride the bus downtown to West Federal Street, stop by the shoe store where Granny’s sister Jesse worked, then have lunch at Woolworth’s, shop for household things at McCrory’s Five and Dime and meat at Huges’s, look at clothes at Strouss’s without spending, and buy a dress at Higbee’s. Granny kept her money at Home Savings and Loan, but she didn’t have a checking account, so they would also go downtown to pay the bills, stopping by the electric company, the gas company, the water company, the phone company.


At home in the kitchen Tammy would be under Granny’s feet watching her cook collard greens fresh from the Thomas garden in Struthers. She loved being around older women and doing them little favors and listening to them. She realized from early on that they had wisdom to pass on to her. She wanted to grow up to be a nurse and take care of people.


Granny performed day work in a lot of white homes in Youngstown, but the family she was with longest was the Purnells, and by the end she was spending weeknights there. Sometimes Tammy went with Granny to work and cleaned the glass doorknobs with something Granny put on a rag, or squirted the clean laundry in a basket under Granny’s ironing board. Once, when Vickie disappeared for a few days, Tammy stayed with Granny in the Purnell house, in her quarters up on the third floor. She watched Mrs. Purnell feed the squirrels out of her hand from the back porch, and Mrs. Purnell gave her a Mickey Mouse phone, and later a bedroom set.


Tammy was too young to know it, but the Purnells were one of the wealthiest and most prominent families in Youngstown. Anne Tod Purnell was a direct descendant of David Tod, founder of the first coal mine on Brier Hill, which in 1844 initiated iron manufacturing in the Mahoning Valley just in time for the Civil War, when Tod was elected governor of Ohio. Her husband, Frank Purnell, was chairman of the board of Dollar Savings Bank and, from 1930 to 1950, president of the Youngstown Sheet and Tube Company, the fifth-largest steelmaker in the country and the largest employer in the Valley. The Purnells lived in the upper-class district around Crandall Park on the north side, in a brick mansion at 280 Tod Lane, with seven bedrooms, four bathrooms, several fireplaces, a library, a ballroom, a conservatory, and a carriage house. They belonged to Youngstown’s industrial Protestant elite in the middle of the twentieth century, when the city was at its zenith, an elite that had controlled Youngstown since the Civil War—controlled it to an extent that was unusual even for a small, landlocked, parochial steel town—and that was already fading by the time a black girl with roots in North Carolina was born on the east side in 1966. And yet Tammy had a living memory of it, in the Purnell mansion.
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From the 1920s until 1977, twenty-five uninterrupted miles of steel mills ran northwest to southeast along the Mahoning River: from the Republic Steel plants around Warren and Niles, through the U.S. Steel plant in McDonald and the Youngstown Sheet and Tube blast furnaces on Brier Hill, to U.S. Steel’s Ohio Works right in the middle of Youngstown, and on down to the sprawling Sheet and Tube plants in Campbell and Struthers. The blast furnaces ran twenty-four hours a day, and the wall of heat, the clang of metal and hiss of steam, the pervasive smell of sulfur dioxide, the smudged charcoal sky by day and hellish red glare by night, the soot-covered houses, the dead river, the packed taverns, the prayers to Saint Joseph the Provider, patron saint of workers, the rumble of train cars carrying iron ore and limestone and coal over dense networks of tracks through the city—all of it said that Youngstown was steel, nothing but steel, that everyone here owed life to the molten pour of iron shaped to human ends, that without it there was no life.


The city’s industrial families—the Tods, Butlers, Stambaughs, Campbells, Wicks—made sure things stayed that way. They were the only elite that Youngstown produced, and they prevented other industries from taking hold and competing for its large immigrant workforce. Youngstown had two symphony orchestras, one made up entirely of steelworkers and their families. The city was prosperous and inward, isolated in a valley halfway between Cleveland and Pittsburgh. And, neighborhood by neighborhood, it was cut off from itself—Italians from Slovaks and Hungarians, native-born workers from foreigners, laborers from managers, blacks from everyone else.


Youngstown Sheet and Tube was the city’s largest steelmaker to remain independent and locally owned, with four blast furnaces at the Campbell Works and two at the Brier Hill Works just north of downtown. Sheet and Tube embodied the ferocity of industrial work in Youngstown—rapacious growth, brutal conditions, segregation of mill jobs by ethnicity and race, unalterable hostility to unions, constant strife. Frank Purnell started working at Sheet and Tube as a fifteen-year-old hall boy in the city office in 1902, two years after the company was founded. In 1911 he married Anne Tod, considerably improving his social position in Youngstown, and in the early twenties they built a grand house on Tod Lane. He rose through the ranks of Sheet and Tube to become president in 1930. In official portraits he wore the starched collar of his time, with a watch chain hanging from his suit vest—a hatchet-nosed man with a double chin, a tousle of silver hair, and the faint smile of imperturbable confidence that belonged to a secure capitalist class.


In the thirties, the old order began to give way. In 1936, John L. Lewis, the volcanic head of the mine workers’ union and of the Committee for Industrial Organization, announced the formation of the Steel Workers Organizing Committee in a Pittsburgh skyscraper where the steel barons also had their offices; he placed his deputy, a mild Scotsman named Philip Murray, at its head. Lewis and Murray’s aim was to achieve what no one had ever succeeded in doing: finally bring the workers of this giant industry under a union. Soon, organizers were driving into steel cities like Youngstown and talking with workers in ethnic clubs, churches, and meeting halls. But the thinking of the new industrial organizers was the opposite of parochial: they preached class consciousness above ethnicity, religion, race, and sex—not in the name of overthrowing capitalism, but in order to bring workers into the middle class, making them full-fledged members of an egalitarian democracy. Lewis’s tactics were radical, but his goals were entirely within the American system.


In the spring of 1937, twenty-five thousand workers in the Mahoning Valley joined a national steel strike. Banned from the airwaves, they mounted loudspeakers on trucks and went neighborhood to neighborhood to announce the next meeting or picket. They also stockpiled baseball bats. Almost none of the strikers were black. In the past, black workers had been brought up from the South as strikebreakers, and for decades they were consigned to the dirtiest, most menial jobs in the mills, like scarfer—taking the defects out of the steel with a blowtorch. They shared a deep mutual wariness with their white coworkers, one that even the idealistic rhetoric of SWOC couldn’t overcome.


It became known as the Little Steel strike. The organizers didn’t target the behemoth U.S. Steel, which had already yielded to labor’s economic power and recognized the union in March, having just the month before been given the object lesson of a successful sit-down strike by auto workers at General Motors plants in Flint, Michigan. Instead, SWOC went after a group of smaller companies, including Republic Steel, headquartered in Chicago, and Sheet and Tube. Unlike U.S. Steel, which was a national company with a larger sense of its role in a modern industrial society, the Little Steel companies were narrow in outlook and regarded unions with undiluted hatred. They kept the mills open by forming groups of “loyal employees,” and they set up heavily armed private forces that were resupplied by air on landing strips built inside the gates.


Violence was inevitable. It came first in South Chicago, on Memorial Day, when police opened fire into the backs of a crowd of union sympathizers, killing ten men and wounding women and children. The following month it was Youngstown’s turn, and on June 19, two strikers were killed outside the gate of a Republic Steel plant. Frances Perkins, President Roosevelt’s secretary of labor, called for arbitration, but instead the owners asked for the mills to be protected by state troops. The governor of Ohio sent in the National Guard, the strike was broken, and the workers returned to their jobs. Altogether, seventeen people were killed in the Little Steel strike of 1937. The public began to turn against labor’s new militancy, and in the short run the companies won.


But the defeat of 1937 led to victory in 1942, when the National Labor Relations Board ruled that Republic and Sheet and Tube had used illegal tactics to crush the strike. The companies were forced to recognize SWOC and enter collective bargaining. Youngstown became a solidly union city, just as World War II was beginning, bringing with it the economic security that workers had always craved—even, as the years went by, for black workers. The mill was hot, filthy, body-and soul-crushing, but its wages and pensions came to represent the golden age of American economic life.


Frank Purnell continued to run Youngstown Sheet and Tube after the war, speaking the new institutional language of labor-management relations, while the old class conflicts remained alive. In 1950, he stepped down as president and became chairman of the board, and in 1953 he died of a cerebral hemorrhage. His widow, Anne, lived on for almost two more decades in the mansion at 280 Tod Lane—years when most of the other elite families sold their mills and left Youngstown for more cosmopolitan, better-smelling locales. The steel companies continued to keep out other industries that might have competed for Youngstown’s labor force. In the fifties, when Henry Ford II was exploring the possibility of opening an auto plant on a railroad scrap yard north of the city, local industrialists and absentee-owned corporations threw up enough obstacles to kill the idea. In 1950, Edward DeBartolo built one of the country’s first strip malls out in Boardman, and the growth of shopping plazas began to sap the commercial heart of town. White workers moved to the suburbs for work in lighter industry, opening up good jobs in the steel mills for the first time to the black workers who stayed behind. As transportation costs rose, the geography of American steelmaking moved to deepwater ports like Cleveland, Gary, Baltimore, and Chicago, and Youngstown’s steel industry stagnated while foreign competition began to catch up.


Finally, in 1969, Youngstown Sheet and Tube—by then the country’s eighth-largest steelmaker, and the last one in the city to remain locally owned—was sold to Lykes Corporation, a New Orleans–based shipbuilding conglomerate, which planned to pull money out of its new acquisition, using the company’s cash flow to pay down debt and expand other operations, eventually cutting its dividend and dropping “Youngstown” from its name. So by the early 1970s, though no one knew it yet, the city was already in a state of decline.


The Purnells had no children, and the widow lived alone, except for her sister, Lena, and also an aging colored maid named Virginia. After the sister died, and Mrs. Purnell fell and broke her hip on her way to tend the furnace in the carriage house, the maid began staying overnight Mondays through Fridays and became Mrs. Purnell’s companion. Anne Tod Purnell died in 1971. During the months when the disposition of the estate remained uncertain, the maid was brought to live in the mansion as a caretaker, along with her granddaughter and five-year-old great-granddaughter.
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Tammy couldn’t remember how long they lived in the Purnell mansion, but at the time it felt like forever. When they moved there, the tulips and rose garden were in bloom, and Tammy started kindergarten there, and they celebrated Christmas there. When they arrived, some of the furniture was being taken out of the house, and all the beautiful rugs were gone from the great foyer. Soon after that, the living room furniture disappeared, and at Christmas the dining room table was gone, and then someone tore out the chandelier that had hung in the dining room, leaving exposed wires, which outraged Granny. Piece by piece the estate was dismantled before the sale of the house. Mrs. Purnell’s driver was given her car, and the gardener and household staff, Granny included, received five thousand dollars each. Tammy’s mother kept Mrs. Purnell’s silver-framed mirror and silver hairbrush. At Christmas Tammy got a bicycle, and she learned to ride it in the empty living room.


The house was bigger and fancier than anything she could imagine. There were so many places to hide, and flowers she’d never seen before in the garden, and a front-loading washing machine in one of the seven rooms in the basement, nickel-plated counters in the kitchen, and a buzzer on the dining room floor to call servants. Tammy, who wasn’t supposed to play in that part of the house, once stepped on it and scared herself when the thing went off. Her favorite room was Miss Lena’s old bedroom on the second floor, with a back porch. It was painted green, like the rest of the house, except for Miss Lena’s long bathroom, which had gold-colored tiles and a stand-up shower that was amber. They shared the bathroom with Tammy’s mother when she was there, but Vickie didn’t like being in the big empty house—she believed that it was haunted. Tammy found a hoop slip in an old trunk, with wire rings and ruffles, and she would put it on and twirl around the third-floor ballroom the way she imagined people dancing in an earlier time. She descended the grand stairway like a princess, and she performed shows on the circular patio for an audience of bushes. Granny kept her close to the house, forbidding her to leave the yard or climb the big tree, which she did anyway. On weekends they walked down to Crandall Park and fed the swans.


The adventure ended in early 1972, around Tammy’s sixth birthday, when a family bought the mansion. Granny was allowed to take some surviving furniture and dishes, including Mrs. Purnell’s handmade bed and dressing table, white with gold trim. She and Tammy returned to the east side, and with her bequest Granny made a down payment on a wood-frame house at 1319 Charlotte Avenue, which she bought for ten thousand dollars. And it was there that Tammy lived, almost continuously, until she was twenty-six.


She attended a series of schools named after presidents—Lincoln, Madison, Grant, Wilson; not one of them would escape the wrecking ball. In class pictures she was the thin, light-skinned girl in pigtails, with soft, expectant eyes, as if something good was about to happen. She loved going to the old amusement park at Idora and riding the Wildcat roller coaster, but her favorite place in the city was Mill Creek Park, eight hundred acres of woods and ponds and gardens on the border of the south and west sides. From the northern end of the park you could see the steel mills and train tracks, but you could also scramble over rocks, lose yourself on the trails, and talk to yourself and God. Granny sometimes took her there, or she would go with the Pearl Street Mission, where she was sent after school. At the mission, which was near her house on the east side, the kids would scoop out the insides of oranges, fill them with peanut butter, poke a hole in the rind, thread a piece of yarn through it, then hang the oranges from trees in Mill Creek Park for the birds—though Tammy never saw a bird eating peanut butter out of an orange. If she could live anywhere in the city, it would have been near the park.


The first time Vickie was locked up, Tammy was in second grade. She was taken to visit her mother in the county jail and told that she was on vacation there. A year or two later, her mother went away to the penitentiary for a longer stay. This time no one told Tammy where her mother was, and she didn’t ask, but one day on the school bus an older girl from the neighborhood taunted Tammy, saying her mother was in jail. “No she’s not,” Tammy said, “she’s on vacation,” but the girl kept it up, until they started fighting and were thrown off the bus. When Granny got home from work, she told Tammy where her mother was, and Tammy became upset. But the day her mother came home from the penitentiary, Tammy was so happy that it didn’t matter. Vickie had gained a little weight in jail, and she had pretty hair and pretty legs and a beautiful smile, and Tammy thought she was the most beautiful black woman she’d ever seen.


During Tammy’s childhood her mother was in and out of jail for drugs, check fraud, even aggravated robbery. When Vickie was trying to get off heroin, she would take Tammy with her to a brick building called Buddha, on the south side, where she would drink methadone from a little cup, and Tammy wanted to taste it but her mother would never allow it. She often ran out of food, so that Tammy had to learn to shop with coupons and bag up food in individual meals for the week. More than once Vickie left her alone somewhere and didn’t come back, and the time Tammy saw her overdose she wondered why her mommy didn’t love her enough to stop using. She thought that if she could just make her mommy love her a little more, then she would stop. “My mother put me in some really jacked-up situations as a kid,” she said later. “There were times she would just leave me, and I went through some things that I really repressed, but at the end of the day none of that mattered because she was my mom. And I loved her to pieces. I loved the ground she walked on. She was my mother.”


But it was her great-grandmother who shaped Tammy. Granny, with her crappy maid’s job, cooking and cleaning past retirement age, had bought a house—not the best house, but it was hers. Tammy’s father’s mother was the same way—she was a nurse’s aide at St. Elizabeth’s Hospital and always came home worn out in her starched white uniform, worked until she almost died of cancer, but she saved enough money to buy a house and get out of the projects. Those women did what they were supposed to do. Tammy was that kind of person—it was programmed into her. Maybe it came from Papa Thomas, who had owned all that land in Struthers and given a piece of it to the church.


After Granny stopped working they lived on her Social Security and Vickie’s welfare checks, and there was so little money that sometimes the gas was shut off. When her father and grandmother were still living in the West Lake projects, north of downtown, Tammy sometimes visited them, and when she was a little older she had friends living in the east side projects, generation after generation on welfare who never got out. They could buy things only at the start of the month, when stores raised prices to take advantage of the checks. Even if they got on a program to pay their gas bill they would always owe, they’d die owing that money. Tammy vowed to herself that she would not go on welfare and live in the projects. She didn’t want to have just enough to barely get by but not enough to actually be able to do anything. She didn’t want to get stuck.


When Tammy was in fifth grade, her mother got together with a man named Wilkins, whom Tammy thought of as her stepfather. Tammy had to leave her granny’s house and go live with her mother and stepfather on the lower south side, which was the black part of the south side, in a house with several apartments where her stepfather’s cousin lived. Their apartment was on the attic floor, and it had only one bedroom; Tammy’s room was actually a closet, with hardly enough room to stand, and they shared a bathroom on the floor below with several other apartments. On Charlotte she had had her own large bedroom, with twin beds from Mrs. Purnell. But she was okay with it—she was fine. During this period Tammy’s mother was clean. Her stepfather had a good job at the mill, but he never had money and they were as poor as ever. Tammy played flute in the orchestra throughout elementary school, but when her new school started charging rent for musical instruments, she had to quit. She went back to Granny’s every weekend.


It was while she was living on the south side that Youngstown entered its death spiral.
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On Monday, September 19, 1977, Lykes Corporation of New Orleans announced that it would close Sheet and Tube’s Campbell Works, the largest mill in the Mahoning Valley, by the end of the week. There had been no advance word—the decision had been made the day before, at the Pittsburgh airport, where corporate board members flew in, voted, and then flew back home to New Orleans or Chicago. Five thousand people would lose their jobs, including Tammy’s godmother, who had only nine or ten years in, not enough for retirement, and had bought a house and was raising her kids by herself. In Youngstown, that day became known as Black Monday.


No one saw it coming. In the recollections she jotted down in a notebook years later, Tammy’s friend Miss Sybil wrote:




Mills closed


City started to decline as though a cancer was slowly killing it. Decline started slowly at first as though people were in state of shock.





There had been warning signs but they were ignored. Profits had been declining, though not sharply, and the absentee steel corporations had not reinvested in the mills. Instead, they cannibalized machines and parts, moving them from one mill to another—World War I technology, not a single new blast furnace in Youngstown since 1921. Youngstown steel became the weak man in the industry, first to close and last to reopen during slowdowns. The United Steel Workers union was focused on contract disputes—cost of living allowances, pensions—not the overall health of the companies. The union system in the mills made room for everyone and took care of everyone, as long as you showed up and acted responsible. If a worker lost his hand in a crane accident, he got a job as a bell ringer on the hot-metal cart. Their hard-won security had the workers lulled to sleep, even when they went on strike. A month before Black Monday, the United Steel Workers district manager in Youngstown called local union leaders into his mahogany-paneled office near the Campbell Works to assure them that everything was going to be all right.


One of those leaders was Gerald Dickey. The son of a steelworker, in 1968 he got a job at Sheet and Tube straight out of the air force. Some workers showed up with stainless steel lunch buckets and Stanley thermoses, meaning they were in till retirement, but Dickey was a brown-paper-bag guy, eight hours at a time. “I didn’t go there saying, ‘I want to do this for thirty years.’ I wanted to make some money.” He started at $3.25 an hour, and within a year he had a car, and the desire to leave started to fade. “Something happens when you’ve been there two years—your health insurance goes up. Three years, your vacation goes up. This great big security blanket wraps around you. That’s the way they trapped you into those industrial jobs.” A black guy in Dickey’s local named Granison Trimiar said, “Once you had that Sheet and Tube pay stub, you could go downtown, get you a refrigerator, get you anything—your credit was good. And you could get into the nightclubs.”


Throughout the seventies, smaller factories in the Valley—joist plants, structural steel manufacturers, industrial bakeries, Isaly’s dairy—kept closing, like tremors preceding a massive quake. But no one imagined that Sheet and Tube would go down overnight. When it happened, there was no local industrialist, no member of the Youngstown elite, no powerful institution or organization, to step in and try to stop it. The steel barons were long gone, local businesses had no clout, city politicians were fractious and corrupt, the Youngstown Vindicator resorted to shallow optimism. The city had no civic core to rally around. The one glimmer of hope came a few days after Black Monday, at a meeting of local clergymen and militant steelworkers. Gerald Dickey, by then the secretary of Local 1462, got up and said, “Let’s buy the damned thing and run it ourselves.” He saw that food stamps and unemployment benefits weren’t going to get the workers through the crisis, that without those jobs the community would never be the same. The city’s Episcopal and Catholic bishops agreed, and the Ecumenical Coalition of the Mahoning Valley was born.


The crusade was named Save Our Valley, and the idea was to pool enough money from local savings accounts and federal grants and loan guarantees to bring the Campbell Works under community ownership. This was something new in the industrial heartland, and for a few months it caught people’s imaginations. The Mahoning Valley became a cause célèbre among liberals and radicals. Famous activists came to Youngstown to help and the national media came to watch. Five busloads of steelworkers went to Washington to protest outside the White House, and the Carter administration accepted their petition and formed a task force to study the issue. But the local response was halfhearted—meetings were poorly attended, with no more than a hundred people showing up. Save Our Valley bank accounts raised just a few million dollars, while making the mills viable would have cost at least half a billion. The steel companies actively lobbied against local ownership, and the United Steel Workers never got behind an idea that was highly risky and sounded too much like socialism. Even some workers who had lost their jobs were tepid. If they were fifty-five and had their years, they could retire on a full pension, while the younger guys started leaving the area. Finally, a study at Harvard found that even a billion dollars in subsidies wouldn’t be enough to renovate the mills and make them competitive. The federal government—the essential institution for keeping the industry alive—bowed out, and the fate of the mills was sealed.


If the institutions and the people who led them had understood what was about to happen to Youngstown, and then to the wider region, they might have worked out a policy to manage deindustrialization instead of simply allowing it to happen. Over the next five years, every major steel plant in Youngstown shut down: Sheet and Tube’s Brier Hill Works in 1980, U.S. Steel’s Ohio Works in 1980, its McDonald Mills in 1981, Republic Steel in 1982. And not just the mills. Higbee’s and Strouss’s, two of the shopping mainstays downtown, soon closed. Idora, the amusement park on the south side that dated back to 1899, went into a swift decline, before the Wildcat roller coaster caught fire in 1984, which closed Idora down; its spectacular carousel was auctioned off and ended up on the Brooklyn waterfront. Between 1979 and 1980, bankruptcies in Youngstown doubled, and in 1982, unemployment in the Mahoning Valley reached almost 22 percent—the highest anywhere in the country. Black workers, who had only recently entered the better mill jobs, were hit especially hard. Houses on the east side, parts of the south side, and even Smokey Hollow on the edge of downtown emptied out with foreclosures and white flight. The vacancies began an epidemic of house burnings, two or more incidents a day throughout the eighties. On the wall by the pay phone at Cyrak’s, a well-known mob bar, there was a number you could call to have a house torched at less than half the cost of having it demolished by the city. But during a decade of hundreds of arson fires, only two people were convicted of anything—a black woman who killed her two children in an insurance fire, and the city official in charge of demolitions, who used the mob to get the job done. Between 1970 and 1990, the city’s population fell from 140,000 to 95,000, with no end in sight.


John Russo, a former auto worker from Michigan and professor of labor studies, started teaching at Youngstown State University in 1980. When he arrived, he could look down almost every city street straight into a mill and the fire of a blast furnace. He came just in time to watch the steel industry vanish before his eyes. Russo calculated that during the decade between 1975 and 1985, fifty thousand jobs were lost in the Mahoning Valley—an economic catastrophe on an unheard-of scale. Yet, Russo said, “The idea that this was systemic didn’t occur.” As a resident expert, he would get a call from Time or Newsweek every six months, with a reporter on the line asking if Youngstown had turned the corner yet. Apparently it was impossible to imagine that so much machinery and so many men were no longer needed.


It was happening in Cleveland, Toledo, Akron, Buffalo, Syracuse, Pittsburgh, Bethlehem, Detroit, Flint, Milwaukee, Chicago, Gary, St. Louis, and other cities across a region that in 1983 was given a new name: the Rust Belt. But it happened in Youngstown first, fastest, and most completely, and because Youngstown had nothing else, no major-league baseball team or world-class symphony, the city became an icon of deindustrialization, a song title, a cliché. “It was one of the quietest revolutions we’ve ever had,” Russo said. “If a plague had taken away this many people in the Midwest, it would be considered a huge historical event.” But because it was caused by the loss of blue-collar jobs, not a bacterial infection, Youngstown’s demise was regarded as almost normal.




*





Tammy was eleven when the mills started closing. She was too young to know or care about Steeltown, the historic strikes, deindustrialization, or the specter of a whole city’s ruin. She had her hands full surviving her own life. The year after Black Monday, she moved back with her mother and stepfather to the east side. Officially, she lived with them in a house on Bruce Street, but in fact she was staying with Granny again on Charlotte. The summer after she returned, their front door was stolen—it was a solid oak antique, with a glass oval—along with the ornamental cut-glass windows that surrounded it. A few of their neighbors’ houses got hit by the same thieves. Granny couldn’t afford to replace it, so they boarded up the front door and for several years they went in and out the back door. There were times when Tammy was too embarrassed to have friends visit.


The theft of the door marked a turning point that she would often refer to in later years, a sign that the family’s struggles were becoming part of something larger. The mob no longer had control of the streets (even though Cyrak’s wasn’t far from Charlotte Avenue), and the neighborhood was getting bad. By the midseventies most of the white families had moved out of the east side, and Black Monday finished the exit. When Miss Sybil had graduated from East High School in 1964, the majority of the student body was white, and after her class elected a black girl as homecoming queen, a white teacher overruled the vote, saying “It’s not time yet.” But with every year of the seventies, Tammy’s class photo had one or two fewer white kids, until, by the time she entered high school in 1980, East was almost all black and Puerto Rican. The high school was within walking distance of Charlotte Avenue, but in ninth grade Tammy was bused to Wilson High on the south side for racial balance. Her best friend, Gwen, was the only other black kid in math class, and the teacher would totally ignore them when they had their hands up. She missed being at a predominantly black school, so in tenth grade she transferred to East.


She took on bigger responsibilities at home, learning to do simple repairs, taking the bus to shop for groceries and pay the bills. Eventually, Granny turned over ownership of the house to her with a quitclaim deed. The roles were reversed: now she was taking care of Granny.


And then, when she was fifteen, she got pregnant.


She wrote a letter to her mother and mailed it, even though her mother lived three blocks away, because she was too frightened to tell her face-to-face. When the conversation came, her mother got angry and demanded, “Do you want to get rid of it? How are you going to take care of it?” Tammy said that she would take care of her baby, period. The father was a debonair-looking boy, a year older, named Barry. His mother had been Vickie’s probation officer, and she thought the Thomas girl so unsuitable for her son that she called up Tammy’s father’s mother and told her that Barry couldn’t be the one. But Tammy was in love with him, and she told her mother so.


“It’s just puppy love,” Vickie said.


Tammy insisted, “No, Mommy, I love him.”


“It’ll change.”


She and her mother had never talked about sex, even though Vickie was about to conceive her third son in four years by Tammy’s stepfather (Tammy would be due five months sooner). When Vickie was in sixth or seventh grade, Big Mama had told her that babies came from under rocks and she had believed it, which was the sum of her education on the subject. Granny wasn’t about to offer any information, either.


The worst moment came when Tammy had to tell Granny. Tammy couldn’t remember her great-grandmother crying when Big Mama died, but she cried when she heard Tammy’s news, and that hurt Tammy to her core. Years later, she understood: no one in the family had ever graduated from high school, and Tammy was supposed to be the first. “Here’s another one that is not going to graduate,” Tammy said. “Granny was saying that she’s worked, scrubbed floors, cooked people’s food, spent time away from her family, and what mattered most for her is that I was educated and had a home, and that hadn’t happened yet. We had a home but nobody was getting educated.” Tammy’s father stormed into the house on Charlotte and told her, “You’re never going to be anything but a welfare bitch.”


A resolve formed in Tammy then. She wouldn’t end up like those girls in the projects, and she wouldn’t end up like her mother. She would stay in school and start taking it seriously—she had been a mediocre student, but now she was going to work at it—and then she was going to find a good job (nursing wasn’t realistic anymore, not with her grades in chemistry), because her child was going to have a much better life than she did, better than her baby brothers, with a mother who took care of her. She had something to prove now, not just to her father and them, but to herself.


The baby girl was born on May 9, 1982. Barry didn’t show up when  he was supposed to sign the birth certificate, and Tammy learned that he was fooling around with other girls. They quarreled, and she refused to see him anymore. She went back to school in time to take her finals. A few months later, she ran into Barry at the West Lake projects, where she had a summer job as a day camp counselor. He was standing in line at the community center for some sort of giveaway with one of his girlfriends, who was pregnant. That broke Tammy’s heart—but it was okay, it was all right, she knew she’d rebound. She stopped going to church because her situation was considered shameful. When Barry tried to get back together with her, she turned him away. “This is not your job,” she told him. “She’s not yours. You didn’t sign the birth certificate.” She didn’t want her daughter to grow up like her, having a tumultuous relationship with a man who never seemed to care about her. She wanted her daughter to be loved and wanted by everyone around her. She and the baby were on their own, while everything on the east side went to hell.


Tammy got off her mother’s check and signed up for her own. She hated being on welfare—the agency workers were nasty—but she needed it to pay for food and child care. She finished high school on time, in 1984, and became the first person in her family to get a diploma. The feminine style of her senior year recalled the forties, with the girls in their yearbook pictures arranging their hair and dress and lipstick like Billie Holiday. Tammy posed in a gray felt hat with a black ribbon and a mesh veil, but the look in her eyes told of the life that had intervened since she was a girl in pigtails.


She got an associate’s degree at a technical college and worked for two years as a supermarket cashier in the hope that she’d get a management job, but none opened up. She had two more children, both by a man named Jordan: a boy in 1985 and another girl in 1987. She was always careful with money—now that she could drive, she shopped in the suburbs, where prices were lower, and she bought the kids’ Christmas presents on layaway, securing the gifts at the store with a deposit until she could pay in full. But with three kids, Granny, and the house on Charlotte to take care of, she had to find more secure work.


By the late eighties, Youngstown was building a museum to its industrial history, designed by the architect Michael Graves in the shape of a steel mill, with stylized smokestacks. But up in Warren, the Packard Electric plants were still operating, with eight thousand workers making wiring harnesses and electrical components for General Motors cars. It was lighter, cleaner work than steelmaking, and two-thirds of the employees were women, a lot of them single mothers like Tammy. She went in to interview and was hired for the assembly line at $7.30 an hour. So in 1988 she got off welfare and became a factory worker.
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